
and left as far as the eye can see. Immediately 
the market’s Balkan flair takes over: Indeed, de-
mographically about a quarter of the Ottakring 
population was born in South-eastern Europe, 
with 15% from the former Yugoslavia, while an-
other 8% are Turkish.  

This market is for daily shopping, with 
fruit and vegetables, butchers and fishmongers, 
cheese stands, and a few specialties from other 
places, especially Turkey. Produce is fresh, prices 
are good, and the crowds reasonable. 

Turn right on the Brunnenmarkt, but don’t 
linger. Our goal is the north end of the market: 
Yppenplatz, the heart of Neulerchenfeld. The 
Platz was named after Baron Simon Peter of Yp-
pen, an officer in the Austrian army. In the early 
1800s, his military drill grounds were here. 

Behind the market stands are plenty of res-
taurants, many Turkish. According to locals, one 
of the best is Lokanta Oase, “the taste of Anato-
lia”. It opens for breakfast at 6am.

The jelly pavilion, Gül bakery and the An-Dos 
Yppenplatz hosts a farmers’ market on Sat-

urday mornings. This is where Johanna Staud 
began selling vegetables and fruit in 1947, from 
which she and her family built the famed Staud’s 
jam company she still runs with her son today. 
Anyone who has fallen in love with this select 
Viennese brand, with its easily recognizable 
eight-sided jars and lids printed with famous 
Austrian art, will be amazed to discover that the 
factory is just up the street, on Hubergasse.

Little more than a lean-to in the space where 
a building once stood, it seems as if jam is made 
day and night: When it’s dark, the rooms are lit 
with eerie blue flourescent lights. Staud’s jam 
is not only on the shelves of Viennese grocery 
stores, it can be bought around the world. I have 
found it in shops from New York to Tokyo. On 
Yppenplatz you can find Staud’s Pavillon, open 
only mornings (8am–12:30), whose dark green 
shelves are lined with row upon row of jewel-
like jars of jam and pickled vegetables – all well 
worth a special visit. 

On the south side of Yppenplatz is Gül Bak-
ery – open a miraculous 24 hours a day, and al-
ways fresh bread coming out of the oven. Would 
I love to live upstairs!

In the middle of the square are Café An-Do 
and An-Do Fisch. Both are popular but pricey, 
at least for this part of town. The café’s menu has 
a slightly oriental tinge, and An-Do Fisch serves 
a broad selection of Turbot, bream, gurnard, sea 
bass, three kinds of oysters, mussels… Reserva-
tions are recommended, especially on weekends. 

But to be honest, the Platz is ringed by res-
taurants, more than can possibly be described 
here. Reflecting the inter-cultural atmosphere, 
the Café Club International, besides having 
great breakfasts, is the home of the Associa-

Stones of Vienna

The Shanigarten outside Café An-Do: just one of the many Yppenplatz locales� Photo: David Reali
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(Viennese dialect) a neighbourhood in Vienna contained  
by subjective boundaries and a coherent identity 

by Duncan J. D. Smith
Art and ideas are hard to escape in Vienna, 

with statuary gracing the rooftops and music 
behind almost every door. “The very streets of 
Vienna are paved with culture, the other cities 
with asphalt,” wrote social critic Karl Kraus. 
Even down to the public conveniences.

First flush
Toilets have long been a measure of civilisa-

tion. The earliest in the royal palace at Knos-
sos on Crete date back to 1500 BC. Under the 
Romans, with their aqueducts and gravity-fed 
water systems, there was an explosion in toi-
let technology and Vindobona (as Vienna was 
known then) would have been well-plumbed. 
Thereafter toilets disappear, and by the Middle 
Ages the Viennese were emptying their waste 
directly into the street. It was normal European 
practice and disease was rife. Something need-
ed doing, and in the mid-eighteenth century, 
central Vienna received Europe’s first modern 
sewer system.

Toilet technology
Vienna owes its 

public conveniences 
to one man, Wilhelm 
Beetz, a court offi-
cial and the son of a 
dairyman. In 1880 he 
offered the city a 25-
year contract for public conveniences based on 
those installed in Berlin. The plan was accepted 
and by 1910, there were seventy-three facilities 
across the city. 

A number are still in use and come in one of 
two forms. One is an octagonal pavilion made 
from prefabricated iron panels inside which is 
concealed a gentlemen’s urinal. The urinal it-
self is not porcelain but metal, and is coated 

in special oil containing disinfectant. No wa-
ter is used, meaning the facility never freezes, 
and odours are kept to a minimum. Beetz 
patented this so-called Ölurinoir in 1883, and 
received numerous well-deserved honours as a 
result. A fine example from 1903 can be seen 

on Puchsbaumplatz in 
Favoriten.

The second form 
is more elaborate. A 
roofed rectangular pa-
vilion set on a stone 
base includes a sepa-
rate entrance for each 
sex. Inside there are 
four cubicles on each 

side, as well as a heated attendant’s office, and 
the usual urinal for men. A recently restored ex-
ample stands alongside the MAK on Parkring, 
replete with a decorative coloured glass border 
beneath its roofline.

Novel conveniences
Beetz reserved something special for the 

public conveniences on the Graben. Here, 

out of discretion, he placed the facility under-
ground, advertising its presence by a pair of 
Jugendstil lanterns, which doubled as ventila-
tion chimneys. Unveiled in 1905, it boasts oak 
doors and brass washstands but despite such 
luxury it was always free to use. The ladies’ 
side once contained an aquarium as proof of 
the purity of the water, and over the inevitable 
waterless urinal in the men’s area there hangs a 
copy of Beetz’s patent.

Novelty is still a feature of toilets in Vienna. 
In the Opernpassage is the Opera Toilet, where 
for a small fee the visitor can attend to nature’s 
call to the sound of the Blue Danube Waltz. 
The Toilet of Modern Art in the Kunst Haus, 
is decorated with Friedensreich Hundertwasser’s 
trademark crazed tiles and bold colours. And 
don’t forget the futuristic conveniences designed 
by architect Manfred Wolff-Plotegg for the Café 
Korb, the doors identified none too cryptically 
with sans-serif punctuation marks designating 
the desired user.

Lavatorial linguistics
The Viennese penchant for absorbing French 

words is longstanding. The early Habsburgs 
strove to maintain their Spanish court manners 
and to avoid the rationalist influence of France, 
but from the time of Empress Maria Theresia 
the influence of Paris grew. The language spoken 
at court was Schönbrunner Deutsch, an elegant, 
nasal upper class speech sprinkled with French 
expressions. Even today the pavement is referred 
to as the Trottoir, a coat closet is a Garderobe, a 
milky coffee is a Mélange – and of course a gen-
tlemen’s urinal is a Pissoir! � ¸

Duncan J. D. Smith is the author of  
Only in Vienna  
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Vienna has been a forerunner in defining what makes a city 
civilised. The local sewer system dates from the 18th century

Vienna at Your Convenience: 
A History of Public Toilets

by Cynthia Peck
Venturing into Vienna’s “outer districts” can 

hold a special sense of adventure, or even bring the 
feeling of going back in time. The Grätzl around 
the Yppenplatz in Ottakring is just such a place. 

Crossing the Gürtel into the 16th District, 
you are in Ottakring; more specifically, you are 
in Neulerchenfeld, a village founded in 1703. 
At that time it lay just outside the Linienwall, an 
outer wall built around the city after the Turk-
ish sieges in the late 1600s. With no space for 
large fields, most people lived off small gardens 
producing herbs and fruit.

In the late 1700s, a tax was imposed on 
foodstuffs in Vienna, but the villages beyond 
the outer wall were exempt. Obviously the out-
side markets could sell their wares more cheaply. 
Business boomed. In Neulerchenfeld, the Brun-
nenmarkt was founded. Still a bustling center of 
neighborhood commerce, is one of the oldest 
and longest outdoor markets in Europe, and in 
Vienna, second only to the Naschmarkt.

This tax exception also meant that restaurants 
were also cheaper. Since Neulerchenfeld was easy 
to reach, lying just outside the city walls, by the 
end of the 18th century almost everyone ran a 
Gasthaus: Of 150 buildings, 103 had a license to 
run an inn. And if they’re not as many now, you 
can still sense the welcome behind every door. 

Urban xenophilia
As the No.2 tram crosses the Gürtel, the 

Weinhaus Sittl, “Zum Goldenen Pelikan” appears 
on the corner to your left, the first sign of the old 
village. The two-storied yellow building dates to 
before 1740 and is the last of the original Neu-
lerchenfelder inns. Here, time has stood still. The 
main dining room is still dominated by a huge 
old black stove, the interior unchanged since the 
1950s. Out back is a giant chestnut tree shadow-
ing a pleasant small garden, where you can eat well 
and cheaply: Prices hover below or around €10. 

One block up Neulerchenfelder Straße is 
the Brunnenmarkt, reaching off to the right 

Weinhaus Sittl
Lerchenfelder Gürtel 51, Tel.: 01-40 50 205

Lokanta Oase
Friedmanngasse 14, Tel: 01-409 81 67

Café An-Do and An-Do Fisch
Brunnenmarkt Stands 169 and 161
www.ando.at

Café Club International
Payergasse 14

Brunnenpassage: Brunnengasse 71/
Yppenplatz, www.brunnenpassage.at

Staud’s: Shop: Corner Brunnengasse/
Schellhammergasse, Factory: Hubergasse 3

Gül Bakery
Yppenplatz 7

tion for the Integration of Immigrants. And the 
Brunnenpassage, at the east end of the Platz, is 
an international social centre, with free events or 
dance classes nearly everyday.

By 5:45 in the afternoon merchants on the 
market begins to pack up, and by 6:30 it is emp-
ty. Evening has begun, and the park on the west 
side of Yppenplatz is full of people: Mothers sit 
with babies in prams, soccer players fill the “ball 
cage”, voices shouting out in many languages, 
while around the edges, long walls explode with 
exuberant graffiti. Seemingly tolerated, a friend 
from the neighbourhood says that the images 
change regularly. One of the kids tells me that 
the sprayers are there at dawn.

I leave fantasizing about a warm spring day, 
when I’ll get over to this side of town at 5 in the 
morning to watch them at work, pick up some 
warm ekmek at Gül, and then at 6, a cardamom 
coffee at Lokanta. Watch the market open, and 
back to the 1st District in time for work. What 
could be better?� ¸

Jugendstil lanterns identify underground pub-
lic conveniences on the Graben   Photo: D. Smith
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In 1880, court official and dairy-
man's son Wilhelm Beetz of-
fered the city a 25-year contract 
for public conveniences based 
on those installed in Berlin.
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